

The Optimal Reference Guide:

National Education Data Standardization Efforts

Extraordinary insight into today's education topics

Barbara S. Clements, Ph.D., ESP Solutions Group With a Foreword by Glynn D. Ligon, Ph.D., ESP Solutions Group



Table of Contents

oreword	
Background & Purpose	3
ederally Supported Education Data Related Activities	
NCES/CCSSO Data Improvement Projects	7
Recommendations for Improving the Common Core of Data	7
Technical Assistance for State Education Agencies	9
Data Handbook Revisions and Development	9
NCES Data Dictionary	
SPEEDE/Express	
Dropout Rate Definition	
Graduation Rate Definition	13
Study of Overlap in Federal Collections	
National Forum on Education Statistics	
NESAC Guide	
Basic Data Elements	
Crime and Violence	16
Facilities and Facilities Management	
Technology	
Automated Student Record Systems	17
Finance	17
Confidentiality of Student and Staff Records	18
Focus on Obtaining Quality Data	18
Other NCES Activities	18
Course Classification System	
Postsecondary Higher Education Handbook on Human Resources	19
Higher Education Facilities Handbook	19
Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting	19
National Education Goals Panel	19
Other Department of Education Data Standardization Efforts	20
Migrant Student Records	21
Joint OCR/OSEP Pilot Data Collection	
Data Quality Training	
Metadata Dictionary Efforts	
Education Data Exchange Network (EDEN)	
Education Data Activities Supported by Other Organizations	24
CCSSO Data Related Activities	
Measuring Results: Overview of Performance Indicators	
Limited English Proficient Student Data Recommendations	24
State Education Indicators with a Focus on Title I	24
State Indicators of Science and Mathematics Education	
EIMAC	25
Decision Support Architecture Consortium (DSAC)	
Schools Interoperability Framework	
IMS Global Learning Consortium	
Summary	
About the Author	
Bibliography	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	33





Foreword

By Dr. Glynn D. Ligon President and CEO, ESP Solutions Group

Data Driven Decision Making (D3M) assumes the availability of quality data. Documenting the history of how education data have gone from late, non-comparable, conflicting statistics to databases on the verge of quality is Dr. Barbara Clements' contribution in this publication. In an agenda for a meeting on data issues, Dr. Clements was once accidentally listed as Dr. Elements. Everyone agreed that was no mistake. Her previous position as Director of Data Improvement Activities at the Council of Chief State School Officers, gave her first-hand knowledge and experience with a majority of the activities described in this publication.

My perspective on the emergence of quality as an attribute of our education data is that state education agencies and the U.S. Department of Education no longer defer the entire responsibility for quality to the schools. When Dr. Clements and I began visiting state education agencies in the 1990's, we heard consistent excuses that schools and districts were late and inaccurate in their reporting to the state. This chronic condition was too often considered incurable within the context of local control and/or limited resources. A defeatist attitude was holding most states back. However, slowly building with the support of NCES, the U.S. Department of Education's paperwork clearance office, program evaluation, and later the Department's first full-time CIO, was a body of standards for data. A favorite question of ours when we visited states was, "What percent of the data that you collect from schools and districts is for the Federal government?" The states' estimates ranged from 50% to 85%, generally around 75%. That is a significant influence for federal data collections.

Clearly, the tipping point for substantial upgrades of states' education information systems came with the passage of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001. However, as Dr. Clements documents in this publication, the groundwork for progress was laid over the prior two decades.

In my experience with education data systems, the most significant success factor has been the adoption of comprehensive metadata standards—and compliance with them. Any standard presents an on-going challenge to remain up-to-date and comprehensive. Moreover, these metadata standards are only one component of the entire enterprise. This publication describes the much broader scope for the standards necessary to manage local, state, and Federal education data systems.

ESP Insight
The tipping point for substantial upgrades of states' education information systems came with the passage of the No Child Left Behind Act of

2001.

A version of this paper was written under contract to the U.S. Department of Education's Office of the Chief Information Officer. The information and opinions published here represent the opinions or views of the authors and do not necessarily represent the policy or views of the U.S. Department of Education





Background & Purpose

Since its birth in 1867, the U.S. Office of Education, and its successor the U.S. Department of Education (USED), has had responsibility for the collection and dissemination of national statistics on education. This responsibility has mostly been implemented by the National Center for Education Statistics. In recent years, Congress has funded through USED numerous grant programs for education entities such as schools and districts to meet the needs of special groups of students. Each of these programs needs information to assess whether federal grant recipients are using the money for the program's stated purpose and according to Congressional intent, and whether there appears to be an impact of the program in the schools.

In 1983, when *A Nation at Risk* was released by the National Commission on Excellence in Education, our nation became aware of how little it actually knew about the status and functioning of our public schools. When the Secretary of Education's "wall chart" was first published in 1984, there were very few comparable data available that could be used to evaluate state education systems. Indeed, prior to that time, very few state-by-state comparisons were made because of the differences in the characteristics of student populations, the levels of resources available for education, and the curriculum taught in the schools. Comparing student outcomes was particularly problematic as there was no single test taken by representative samples of students in every state. The resulting focus on education reforms by federal, state, and local leaders led to an even greater need for information about the schools.

The data that were published in the "wall chart" over the next five years were data that were available, and not necessarily the most appropriate data for comparison purposes. When the Council of Chief State School Officers voted in November of 1984 to work with the USED on the development of more appropriate indicators, it represented a national focus on the need for high quality data that could be used to make reasonable and useful comparisons to improve education in the states and to look at progress over time. Other organizations, such as the National Governors' Association, the Education Commission of the States, and the American Association of School Administrators also called for the collection and use of high quality data.

The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), passed into law in 2001, presented still another focus on the woeful state of education data. But the focus in NCLB was changed from compliance to accountability. All of a sudden, state education agencies are responsible for ensuring that all students are proficient on state assessments by 2014, and that sufficient progress toward that goal is made in the intervening years. Schools, districts and state education agencies are identified as making "adequate yearly progress" toward the goal for all subgroups of students, including every major racial/ethnic group, economically disadvantaged children, special education students, and students with limited English proficiency. State assessments are required to be given in grades 3-8 and at least once in high school in English/reading/language arts, mathematics, and science (beginning in 2007). School and district ratings must be reported to the public, especially to parents who may transfer their children from schools that are not meeting state requirements for performance.

ESP Insight
Although USED has collected data about public schools for many years, little was known about the outcomes of public education.



Background & Purpose continued



The capacity of USED and states to collect better quality and useful data about public education is greater now because of the ground work that has been done.

These stringent NCLB requirements for reporting on student performance have resulted in greater amounts of data being collected about individual students. School districts are required to maintain data in such a way that they can be reported consistently and accurately to state education agencies in a timely manner. The growth of new information systems has been immense. As a result, standards for collecting and reporting data are more important than ever.

Fortunately, many activities have been conducted in recent years to build SEA and LEA capacity to make comparable, complete, and timely data available for assessing the performance of America's students and the success of schools. This paper summarizes many of those efforts, and points to where additional information may be obtained.



NCES/CCSSO Data Improvement Projects

Beginning in 1985, the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) funded a series of projects with the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) focusing on improving education data. The first of these projects, the Education Data Improvement Project, was a three-year project looking at improving the comprehensiveness, comparability, and timeliness of data collected, analyzed, and reported by NCES. The beginning of this project coincided with the Department of Education's extensive redesign of the national elementary/secondary education statistical data system. The major focus of this project was the NCES Common Core of Data, a universe collection of data about schools, local education agencies, and state education agencies.

The goals of this project were to describe state collection of data elements included in the Common Core of Data, to describe elements that might be added to make the collection more complete and useful for reporting on the condition of the nation's schools, and to make recommendations to NCES and the states about how to make the Common Core of Data more comprehensive, comparable, and timely. While the tasks varied slightly in subsequent projects, the goals were basically the same. NCES wanted to ensure that all states were reporting timely data using comparable definitions and periodicities. In addition to making recommendations to NCES about how to define certain data elements, the various projects included extensive review of state data collection systems so that recommendations could be made to states for how they could revise their data collections. A list of reports generated through the early projects is included in Appendix A. Many of the reports written in recent years have been published by NCES or the National Forum on Education Statistics. The publications produced by the NCES/CCSSO projects for these organizations are included in the Bibliography at the end of this paper.

The names of the projects are not important. Often the names did not well-describe the activities included. The current NCES/CCSSO project (2003-2006) is called the Data Quality and Standards Project, and represents a continuation of the joint work of CCSSO and NCES to improve the contents and usage of education data systems. The most important activities from these projects are described in the following sections.

Recommendations for Improving the Common Core of Data

As mentioned above, a major focus of the NCES/CCSSO projects has been to help NCES improve the quality of data included in the Common Core of Data (CCD). There are five surveys that make up the CCD:

Public School Universe Survey Local Education Agency (School District) Universe Survey State Aggregate Nonfiscal Survey State Aggregate Fiscal Survey School District Fiscal Survey



The purposes of the CCD are to provide:

- The official listing of public elementary and secondary schools and school
- General descriptive statistics on schools and schooling,
- General data on the financing of public education, and
- A sampling frame for major national studies.

The surveys are voluntary. However, certain data collected in these surveys are required in order for states to receive federal funds. Originally NCES paid states a token amount to provide the data. Over the years, many states reported that the funds were merged into the SEAs' general funds; hence the funds did little to assist the state education agency staff in producing the data. As a result, these payments were ceased in the late 1980's.

Some of the activities related to the Common Core of Data conducted over the last 20 years include the following:

- 1. Comparison of state definitions and collection procedures to the definitions and procedures provided by NCES to identify similarities and differences. In part this was done by reviewing actual data collection documents. In addition, state education agency personnel were interviewed.
- 2. Documentation of differences observed and problems with providing data elements.
- 3. Convening advisory groups of state education agency staff to make recommendations about changes to the contents, definitions, or procedures to make data collection more effective and efficient.
- 4. Development of state data plans specifying what the states need to do to adhere to the standard definitions and procedures of the CCD.
- 5. Review of other sources of data or suggestions made by policy makers or
- 6. Convening an advisory group of state education agency staff and others to develop recommendations for the inclusion of new data elements in the surveys.
- 7. Support for personnel exchanges for staff of state education agencies to obtain assistance on data collection issues.

Recommendations were made to add data elements to the CCD, and suggestions were made that would make it easier for state education agencies to comply with data definitions. For instance, it was discovered that states varied on the reporting of students in state-run schools and other institutions such as prisons. Other variations had to do with how dropout and graduate counts were reported. The NCES/CCSSO projects helped to develop a consensus on how the data should be reported so that states could provide more accurate and complete data.

Among the recommendations made were suggestions on areas needing revision in the financial handbook used by most states as the foundation of state accounting procedures, Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems. Discussions with many persons knowledgeable about school finance and government accounting led an advisory group to suggest that the handbook be revised after the generally accepted accounting principles were revised by the Governmental



For years, NCES has seen the value of working with state education agencies to build consensus around what constitutes high quality data.



Accounting Standards Board. The document was eventually revised and republished in 2003.

Technical Assistance for State Education Agencies

In the third of the series of projects, CCSSO project staff turned their attention toward giving clearer guidance to the individual state education agencies about what could be done to improve the comparability and completeness of their data reported in the CCD. Technical Assistance Plans were developed for each state that included information about how long the state believed it would take to come into compliance with the NCES definitions and procedures and what types of assistance would be useful.

Another activity conducted through the NCES/CCSSO projects was the sponsorship of teams of technology and data collection experts to make site visits to state education agencies to provide specific recommendations on how data could be collected and reported more easily. States were invited to apply for site visits. Eventually, some states requested return visits.

Before each site visit, the team of two-three experts would review documentation sent by the state education agency concerning its data systems, data collections, and future plans. On-site meetings were planned to allow the team to observe the SEA's online data systems and to discuss data collection activities with SEA staff. Each SEA generally had a particular area in which it wanted to receive recommendations, but the team tried to do a comprehensive review of all data collection and reporting systems in the SEA. Sometimes the team asked to talk with other state agencies with whom it might be productive for the state education agency to work. Since many of the states were building an infrastructure for electronic information exchange within the state, intranets and the Internet were important areas discussed. The result of these site visits was a set of recommendations pertaining to the state's specific needs and problems. Some states used these documents as a blue print for what the SEA should do next.

Data Handbook Revisions and Development

One of the most interesting and relevant activities conducted by the NCES/CCSSO projects began with the revision of the student and staff handbooks. NCES had a series of data handbooks originally published around 50 years ago. The last time the handbooks had been revised was during the mid-1970's. Most of the people employed in state education agencies in the 1990's had never heard of the handbooks, but thought they would be useful. Beginning in 1992, the NCES/CCSSO project began work on revising the student data handbook. This revised handbook, the *Student Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education*, was published in 1994, followed a year later by the *Staff Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education*. The *Student Data Handbook* was revised again under the NCES/CCSSO project and published in 2000, while the revised *Staff Data Handbook* was published in 2001.

For each of the revised handbooks in 1994 and 1995, a national task force was convened consisting of federal, state, and local education agency staff, researchers,



ESP Insight
Critical to the improvement
of data quality is the
development of clear
definitions of data
elements.



education organization staff, and others with a vested interest in the content of the handbooks. Using the existing handbooks as a starting point, staff did extensive research into the types of information that might be maintained about students and staff at the school and district levels. A major goal was to include data elements that could be used to produce all federal and state reporting requirements. Each task force met several times over the course of two years to consider new data elements and to provide guidance to the NCES/CCSSO project staff. After the handbooks were drafted, they were each distributed widely for evaluation and recommendations. Many state and local education agencies volunteered to compare their data systems to the contents of the handbooks to see if anything was missing. Other state and local education agencies "piloted" the handbooks, or used them as they made decisions about data elements for their information systems. Information from all these activities was incorporated into the final contents and designs for the handbooks.

The development of the 1994 Student Data Handbook attracted the attention of some groups who thought that the handbook represented the data that the federal government was planning to collect about all students. As a result of this attention, care was taken in describing the uses of the handbook and the restrictions that should be placed on the collection and use of student data. This concern about student privacy led to the convening of a group that developed guidelines for maintaining the privacy of student records, Protecting the Privacy of Student Records: Guidelines for Education Agencies, later revised and called Forum Guide for Protecting the Privacy of Student Information. (For more information on this document, see Appendix B.) A similar document was completed focusing on staffing data, called *Privacy Issues for Education Staff Records*.

In 1999, the NCES/CCSSO project began work on revisions to the Student Data Handbook. One focus of these revisions was on the types of data collected and maintained by state education agencies in unit records systems. This was an additional focus of the handbook not included in earlier versions, since previously data were generally collected by state education agencies in aggregate form.

With the 2000 edition of the Student Data Handbook, NCES instituted a mechanism for updating the student and staff handbooks on an annual basis as needed. This procedure assumed that major revisions would be needed every five years or so. Another change was in the distribution of the handbooks. Both handbooks were made available online on the NCES web site as well as in paper format.

There have been two recent profound changes to the handbooks. First, a task force was convened to help the NCES/CCSSO project develop an "institution" handbook that contains data elements about schools, districts, state and intermediate education agencies and programs. These data elements reflect state and federal reporting on schools and districts such as is needed for NCLB.

The second change is the merging of the student, staff and institution data handbooks into a combined online handbook that offers extensive search capability, called the NCES Nonfiscal Data Handbook for Early Childhood, Elementary, and Secondary Education. This new format eliminates much of the redundancy across the handbooks and standardizes the code sets. The intent is to add data elements



from subsequent handbooks developed by NCES and the National Forum on Education Statistics into this online database, such as data elements on crime and violence, technology, and food services. NCES has instituted an annual review of the handbooks because it is much easier to add new data elements into the online database than it was the paper document.

(The Web addresses for paper handbooks and the online handbook are available in Appendix B.)

NCES Data Dictionary

One project conducted as a part of the NCES/CCSSO project was the development of a prototype for a data dictionary for NCES by Evaluation Software Publishing, Inc. (now ESP Solutions Group). All of the NCES data collections were entered into a product called *Periodicity*TM along with all of the questions included in each data collection. This product shows where the same data are requested, and highlights any differences in how the questions are asked. Full implementation of this data dictionary was not accomplished during the project, although the contents were posted on the ESP Web site. This work served as the groundwork for the development of a data dictionary for the Education Department's Information Collection System (EDICS).

SPEEDE/ExPRESS

The idea to develop a standard national format for student records was suggested by representatives of the Florida Department of Education in the late 1980's. Florida had just completed work on a proprietary student record format to be used for record exchanges by the elementary/secondary and postsecondary education institutions within Florida. The challenge from the Florida Department of Education was to see if a national format could be developed and implemented.

In 1989, NCES appointed a task force consisting of state and local education agency staff, postsecondary institution registrars, and education organization leaders to work on the development of a standard format for a K-12 student record. At the same time, another group, sponsored by the American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers, was working on the design of a postsecondary transcript format. While originally separate, the two groups agreed to work together toward the goal of having a format that would contain information needed when a student transferred from one school district to another, from a school district to a postsecondary institution, and from one postsecondary institution to another. The name of the format represents the postsecondary and elementary/secondary task force names. SPEEDE stands for Standardization of Postsecondary Education Electronic Data Exchange, and ExPRESS stands for Exchange of Permanent Records Electronically for Students and Schools.

The two task forces were managed by the Council of Chief State School Officers and the American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers with funding from NCES. These groups coordinated their efforts to ensure that the standard format was maintained through the ANSI X12 Subcommittee (Electronic Data Interchange), and they provided guidance, training, and assistance to

ESP Insight
The development of a format for electronic student records occurred long before the national K-12 community was ready or able to take advantage of it.



implementers. Stewardship for the postsecondary community's efforts was incorporated into the Postsecondary Electronic Standards Council (PESC), which oversees further development of the standards and provides workshops for the postsecondary community.

The two task forces jointly developed a standard format that is in compliance with the requirements of the American National Standards Institute's X12 Subcommittee, Electronic Data Interchange. Actually, there are four related formats for transaction sets, one of which is the student transcript. The other transaction sets are for a request for a transcript, a response to the request if a transcript is not sent, and an acknowledgment of receipt of the transcript. An important document coming out of this project is A Guide to the Implementation of the SPEEDE/ExPRESS Electronic Transcript, which contains information about how to implement all four transaction sets.

The formats for data elements in SPEEDE/ExPRESS (taken from X12 requirements) have served as a basis for many of the data elements included in the student and staff handbooks. The formats were not always used, however, because they were not commonly used in schools and districts or they were not the most efficient data elements to be used. The X12 process requires a process of coordination and consensus among vastly different industries such as transportation, manufacturing, communications, insurance, mortgage, and health, as well as education. The student transcript was the first transaction set with information about individual persons.

Many postsecondary institutions have implemented the electronic transcript process using a free exchange service hosted by The University of Texas at Austin. Implementation by elementary/secondary schools and districts has been slow to occur. In part, the problems with implementation by universities, schools and districts have been due to the cost of entry into EDI exchanges. Although the UT Server is free, software must be purchased to translate data from student information systems into the EDI transcript format. Some large universities have been able to afford and staff such implementations, but it still requires a major dollar and time commitment from an institution to get started.

PESC is now working with the postsecondary community to develop an XML format for a student transcript. This effort is parallel to an effort under development by SIF, described below. The increased availability of automated student information systems and other technological tools is building interest in electronic transcripts in the elementary/secondary community.

Dropout Rate Definition

Beginning in 1987, the NCES/CCSSO project focused on making recommendations about the collection of standard dropout data from all state education agencies. A task force was convened to look at the possibility of collecting dropout data according to standard definitions, after comparing the methodologies used at the time by states. The task force also considered the appropriateness of trying to report standard dropout rates for all states. Prior to the NCES/CCSSO projects, CCSSO was committed to not supporting state-by-state comparisons. The



recommendations from this activity were considered quite progressive, if not controversial.

NCES began working with states to move toward the collection of dropout counts from state education agencies and the production of dropout rates at the state level. An important basis for this discussion was a paper written by Dr. Glynn D. Ligon and colleagues at the Austin (Texas) Independent School District, called "Making Dropout Rates Comparable: An Analysis of Definitions and Formulas." Further meetings were held to discuss issues related to comparable data collection and reporting. Pilot activities were conducted to see what was the feasibility of getting comparable dropout data from all states. Also, careful attention was given to the comparison of the recommended formulae for computing rates to the formulae used by states at the time. Some states were not willing to move to the standard formula that would show their dropout rates to be higher than rates used locally. In a recent NCES report on dropouts, 45 of the states provided dropout counts that complied with NCES definitions and procedures.

The scope of the dropout problem could not be assessed until there was agreement on the appropriate measure of the problem.

Graduation Rate Definition

Similar work has been done by the NCES/CCSSO project to focus on standardizing the way that graduation rates are reported. CCSSO convened a task force to look at making recommendations about how to collect data on graduates and other completers and on how best to compute graduation or completer rates. The basis for much of the discussion was a comparison of how states report completer data in the Common Core of Data. For instance, the inclusion of special education students in the regular graduate counts varied from state to state. In addition, states varied as to whether they gave Certificates of Completion or Certificates of Attendance to those students not meeting graduation requirements such as graduation tests. Another issue raised was whether or not to include high school equivalency recipients (e.g., completers of the General Educational Development test requirements) in the graduation rate.

The recommendations called for the development of a quasi-longitudinal completer or a graduation rate that had as its inverse the dropout rate. The basic formula has as its numerator the count of all completers and as its denominator the count of completers plus the grade 9-12 dropouts for the four relevant years. The completers count might only include regular high school graduates or it could include high school graduates plus high school equivalency recipients and other completers. Each would tell a different story. This formula could easily be done by NCES using data from the CCD to the extent that states were providing data in compliance with NCES definitions and procedures. Subsequent work done by NCES showed the effect of using various rates. Recommendations were released in January 2000.

New work has focused on developing a comprehensive and logical set of exit codes for tracking what happens to students who leave a school.



either makes such a

comparison problematic.





Study of Overlap in Federal Collections

In 1991, the NCES/CCSSO project produced a paper titled, "A Study of Availability and Overlap of Education Data in Federal Collections." This paper was developed at the request of two committees of the National Forum on Education Statistics: the Implementation Task Force and the Policies, Practices, and Implementation Committee. The goal was to see if redundancy existed among the different collections done by Federal agencies in order that duplication might be eliminated or reduced.

ESP Insight The perception is that there is much redundancy in federal data collections; however, it appears the problem is the same types of data are collected about various subgroups of students.

Two main categories of data were identified to be studied: participation and progress variables and student membership variables. ED data collections focusing on elementary and secondary education were reviewed from NCES, the Office for Civil Rights, the Office of Special Education Programs, Chapter 1, the Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Languages Affairs, and the Office of Vocational and Adult Education. In addition, some collections were reviewed from other federal agencies, such as Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of Agriculture, and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

The findings of this study indicated that there was only one data element where there was no difference in universe or definition. Most of the other data elements (22 data elements) had different universes being measured (i.e., groups of students participating in different programs), but the definitions were the same. There were also 12 data elements where there were different definitions used and/or different collection times. To assist states in providing comparable data, there is a need to standardize data definitions and collection periods.

National Forum on Education Statistics

In 1988, Congress passed Public Law 100-297, which called for the creation of a National Cooperative Education Statistics System. A year later, the National Forum on Education Statistics was convened to assist in the implementation of this law. The Forum is an advisory group to the Commissioner of Education Statistics. From the beginning, it has consisted of representatives of each state education agency (including the District of Columbia, the five extra-state jurisdictions, and the Department of Defense Education Activity) and federal offices that collect and use education data as full members, and representatives of education associations as associate members. The Forum has now expanded to include one school district person from each state as a full member as well. Forum activities are generally conducted by three committees:

- National Education Statistics Agenda Committee
- Policies, Practices, and Implementation Committee
- Technology, Dissemination, and Communication Committee

In addition to doing work on its own, each committee can recommend the convening of a task force to address issues of particular interest. While some of the task forces have focused more on Forum policies or procedures, many have concentrated on making recommendations related to improving the national education statistics system.



The Forum has served as an important means for state and local education agency staff to share information about what is happening in their offices. Through support of the annual Summer Data Conferences and the Management Information Systems Conferences, the Forum has given education agencies the opportunity to learn what is considered "best practice" in education information and how to avoid many of the pitfalls experienced by others.



Following are descriptions of some of the Forum activities and products that relate to the issue of data standardization and timely reporting.

NESAC Guide

The first major product of the Forum was the document, *A Guide to Improving the National Education Data System*. This guide contains an evaluation of the quality and availability of data about elementary and secondary education. Recommendations for improving the system's usefulness are included in the following areas:

- Background/demographics
- Education resources
- School processes
- Student outcomes

Many of the recommendations represent data not currently collected by the National Center for Education Statistics or others within the U.S. Department of Education. What is important about this document is that it reflects a consensus of what data would be useful to make effective decisions about education, recognizing that there would be significant effort needed to collect much of the recommended data. However, the Guide did not call for all data to be collected immediately nor on a universe basis.

The Guide provides a blueprint for thinking about useful data for decision making. NESAC recognized that the Guide could not be static; as needs for more and better data arise, changes will be needed in the contents. Still, the structure would stand and provide guidance to those seeking other types of useful data.

Basic Data Elements

The Forum decided that it would be useful to have a document that specified the most important data elements for inclusion in an administrative record system, primarily at the local level. In part, this idea came about because many people who reviewed the student and staff handbooks felt overwhelmed by the number and breadth of data elements. Many asked that the most important data elements be marked so that they would receive the consideration they deserved.

This task turned out to be a difficult one, and the task force charged with identifying the basic data elements felt the need to break the task into manageable chunks. The first chunks addressed were data on students and staff. The task force used three different means of identifying data elements for inclusion in the basic set. They felt that data elements needed for basic administrative needs should be included. In addition, they wanted to include data elements needed to complete

ESP Insight
Identifying crucial data
elements is not an easy
task; there are many
different perspectives on
which data should be
maintained at the various
levels of the education
system.



federal, state, and local reporting requirements. Finally, the group developed a list of important questions that should be answered to evaluate the quality and success of education systems. They included in the list of Basic Data Elements the data elements needed to answer those questions, to the extent possible.

The result of this work was a document, Basic Data Elements for Elementary and Secondary Education Information Systems. This initial document contained only recommended student and staff data elements, most of which related to the areas of background/demographics, school processes, and student outcomes specified in the Guide. The task force felt that the next phase should include data elements on resources as well as any specialty areas such as crime and violence, facilities, and special programs.

In addition to specifying the data elements and including the data element definitions from the student and staff handbooks, this document contains a description of the process used to identify basic data elements. It was felt that this process would be useful to any school, district, or state education agency faced with the task of identifying what data elements to include in a data system.

Crime and Violence

Responding to the need for information about drug-free schools and incidents of crime and violence in schools, the Forum established a Crime, Violence and Discipline Task Force in the spring of 1995. The result of their work was a set of recommendations detailing additional work needed. Subsequent task force work resulted in a document called Safety in Numbers: Collecting and Using Crime, Violence, and Discipline Incident Data to Make a Difference in Schools. This document addresses the need for incident information as well as the type of information needed in a student record. The task force developed recommended data elements and definitions for different types of incidents and recordkeeping. Information from this document was added to the NCES Nonfiscal Data Handbook for Early Childhood, Elementary, and Secondary Education.

Facilities and Facilities Management

One area identified as necessary by the Basic Data Elements task force was the area of facilities information. NCES previously had a handbook on facilities, and in recent years, had worked with the postsecondary community to create a postsecondary facilities handbook. Publicity about the crumbling infrastructure of public schools also contributed to this perceived need.

ESP Insight Good record-keeping and effective decision making require data on more than just students and staff.

NCES handbooks tend to be comprehensive collections of data elements. The task force guickly found that coming up with a complete listing of facilities data elements would be a much larger task than they were willing to tackle. Several states had put together surveys to obtain information from their schools about the age and status of their buildings. These surveys were used to help define basic data elements for use in "understanding the condition, adequacy, and capacity of education facilities." As a result, the document, titled *Facilities Information* Management: A Guide for State and Local Education Agencies (2003), is meant to represent best practice in maintaining essential information about school facilities so



that important decisions can be made. Subsequent work resulted in a document called, *Planning Guide for Maintaining School Facilities (2003)*.

Technology

Technology has become an important focus of the National Forum on Education Statistics. Much of the work that has been done to standardize data elements has been based on the ability to exchange data electronically without the need for reentering the information. In addition, crosswalks between different formats have helped to promote data standardization. Three documents were produced by the Forum that provide guidance on implementing electronic data systems. They are *Technology @ Your Fingertips, Safeguarding Your Technology, and Weaving a Secure Web Around Education: A Guide to Technology Standards and Security (2003).*

Technology in Schools: Suggestions, Tools and Guidelines for Assessing Technology in Elementary and Secondary Education (2002) contains information about data collection related to education technology, including information about hardware, software, and networks within schools and other education agencies. This represents an increased national focus on the use of technology effectively in schools and as a leveler of the playing field for rural and poor areas. (Information about these documents is included in Appendix B.) The State Education Technology Directors Association used this last document in helping to define what they considered to be essential data elements on education technology.

All of these documents have now been combined into what is called the *Forum Unified Education Technology Suite* (2005).

Automated Student Record Systems

The National Education Statistics Agenda Committee recommended that a separate document be created describing how to build an automated student record system. The basis for this document, *Building an Automated Student Record System (2000)*, was a chapter in the *Student Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education*. In addition to the chapter information, this document contains checklists and case studies presented in an easy to use format for state and local education agencies.

Finance

The Finance Data Task Force was established after the first phase of the Basic Data Elements activity was completed. There were two areas of concern relating to financial data. One area had to do with revising the handbook, *Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems*, discussed earlier. Another had to do with the selection of basic data elements related to financial accounting. In the initial stages, much work was done to identify shortcomings of the existing financial handbook. Then the revision awaited changes to the generally accepted accounting practices. The revision of the *NCES Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems: 2003 Edition* was completed in 2003. However, the Forum has not yet moved to identify basic data elements related to finance.



procedures.





Appropriate maintenance and sharing of student and staff information is not simple; with these guidelines, education agencies can make decisions that are consistent with law and best practice.

Confidentiality of Student and Staff Records

Beginning in 1997, Forum members expressed a concern about the confidentiality of data maintained in student information systems to meet the requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). A task force was created to develop a document that would be useful for all levels of the education system. The resulting document, since revised and updated, is the Forum Guide to Protecting the Privacy of Student Information: State and Local Education Agencies (2004).

Though FERPA is not relevant to staff data, and most states have Open Records Laws, there are areas where sensitivity is needed in maintaining staff records. Therefore, the task force went on to produce another document called *Privacy* Issues in Education Staff Records (2000).

Focus on Obtaining Quality Data

The Forum Guide to Building a Culture of Data Quality: A School and District Resource was developed by the Forum's Data Quality Task Force to help schools and school districts improve the quality of data they collect and to provide processes for developing a "culture of quality data" by focusing on data entry. The task force believed that the quality of data would improve if all staff members understand how the data will be used and how data become information. Individual check lists are provided for different types of local staff. Additional work is now being conducted by a task force to develop a "data quality curriculum."

Other NCES Activities

NCES has conducted numerous other activities focused on improving the quality and comparability of education data. Three examples are listed below.

Course Classification System

In 1995, NCES published A Pilot Standard National Course Classification System for Secondary Education. This handbook was produced at the request of many educators who desire to study and evaluate the course-taking patterns of American students. It was felt that an important role of this type of coding system would be to help ensure that students are appropriately placed when they move from one district to another. In addition, colleges and universities would like to have standard information about what courses students have taken in order to evaluate and place them when they enter college. The document was called a "pilot" because of the evolving nature of secondary courses. It was hoped that the adoption and usage by state and local education agencies beyond the original 11 pilot school systems would help to identify where adjustments are needed in the coding system. This coding system was an important ingredient of the SPEEDE/ExPRESS effort to exchange standard student data electronically. As of Fall 2005, this course classification system is undergoing review and revision.

ESP Insight Tracking student progress and exchanging student records can benefit greatly from standard course codes, such as these.



Postsecondary Higher Education Handbook on Human Resources

This document, *Handbook on Human Resources: Recordkeeping and Analysis*, was developed by NCES in response to the need of the postsecondary education community for common data categories and definitions in the area of human resources. In addition to listing data elements, this handbook contains suggestions for strategic analyses that higher education institutions might want to conduct to explore issues related to effective human asset management.

Higher Education Facilities Handbook

This document, *Postsecondary Education Facilities Inventory and Classification Manual*, provides a comprehensive description of data elements related to facilities found at institutions of higher education. NCES looked closely at this handbook to see if it could be generalized to elementary/secondary facilities. While not directly useful, it has been used as input into the activities of the Forum's Facilities Task Force.

Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting

In 1991, NCES published a document called *Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting (SEDCAR)*. This document was the result of the work of a task force consisting of data providers, producers, and users at the local, state, and federal levels. The goal of the project was to improve the comparability, comprehensiveness, and timeliness of data collected through the National Cooperative Education Statistics System. These standards deal mostly with procedures that should be used. However, an important point made in the document is the criticality of commonly used, standard definitions for data elements.



National Education Goals Panel

In September 1989, President George H.W. Bush and the nation's governors met in Charlottesville, Virginia, where they adopted a set of national goals for improving the quality of US schools. As a result of this Education Summit, the National Education Goals Panel (NEGP) was formed. The NEGP began with six goals for student performance that required standard data with which states' performance could be compared from year to year. The goals were later expanded to eight, and added a focus on life-long learning, not just school-based education. Each goal had a resource group that was charged with coming up with appropriate comparable data to be used to evaluate states' performance. Most of the resource groups recognized the lack of appropriate data and struggled to come up with data that could be collected from all states that were comparable and complete. Data from a variety of sources, not just the federal government, were used in evaluating the goals.

The second goal focused on increasing the graduation rate. The resource group for the second goal found that the most comparable data available were from the Current Population Survey conducted by the U.S. Bureau of the Census. These data were not, however, useful for evaluating the efforts of public schools. The resource



group was warned that unless states could follow what happens to every student when they change schools or leave school, there would never be a truly accurate graduation rate or dropout rate for a state.

The greatest hope for comparable data about public schools was the use of administrative records that could be updated to reflect changes in student status as well as other information of interest to the NEGP. To assist the Goal 2 Resource Group, a document was developed, titled "Statewide Student Record Systems: Current Status and Future Trends." In addition, a technical planning subgroup on core data elements was convened to look at making recommendations about what data elements could be obtained through local administrative records systems to address all of the goals. The result of this activity was a document called, "Core Data Elements for Monitoring Progress Toward the National Education Goals." Much of the information in this document was based on work done in the revision of the *Student Data Handbook*.

In the ten or so years of the NEGP existence, there were annual reports comparing state performance from year to year with data coming from a variety of sources. One result of the goals effort was the support for additional information to be collected through the NCES Common Core of Data, as well as the use of other sources of data to assess performance and school improvement.

Other Department of Education Data Standardization Efforts

Over the years, many of the ED program offices have made attempts to bring together their data providers and promote the reporting of standard data. However, some of the reporting formats used by program offices do not lend themselves to standard sets of data; rather they tend to be more open-ended. In part, this is because the various ways that federal dollars are used at the local level differ so much as to be impossible to categorize according to a few categories. Data quality training provided by the ED Office of Planning and Evaluation Services in 1999 urged program offices to look at ways they could promote data quality, including working with the state and local data providers.

Some program offices have hosted annual meetings of data providers to promote data comparability. The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) is one such office. This has been especially important for OSEP as the legislation related to special education programs changes frequently. It is interesting to note that many states do not use the same categories of special education needs as OSEP requires in its reporting. This has meant that some states have duplicate data systems, do crosswalks, or estimate numbers based on samples in order to meet OSEP reporting requirements. The OSEP meetings include speakers from other education data areas, a practice that helps to promote data sharing and standardization.

The Office of Vocational and Adult Education has also hosted meetings with a focus on data standardization. A task force was convened to look at what data could be standardized across states for federal reporting. Unfortunately, the structure and record-keeping of vocational education varies so much across states that little agreement was possible. As a result, there is little standard data to show the impact of these programs on students.

ESP Insight
The National Education
Goals Panel succeeded in
promoting the
development of better
quality assessments and
the implementation of
more standard data
collection.

Below are descriptions of several ED activities that have promoted or are promoting standardization of education data.

Migrant Student Records

For many years, ED funded the Migrant Student Records Transfer System (MSRTS). This data system, housed at the University of Arkansas, was meant to contain information about all of the students who moved around the nation during the school year because they or their parents were involved in the farming or fishing industries. A major purpose of this system was to contain information about courses completed and other relevant information schools needed to ensure that entering migrant students would get the educational and support services they need. A standard set of data elements was identified and maintained on students. In developing the *Student Data Handbook* and the SPEEDE/ExPRESS format, data elements from this system were included. Unfortunately, sending schools and districts often did not update information about the students who left in time for the receiving schools and districts to use it. As a result, funding for this system was eliminated in the mid-1990's.

The need for a more efficient electronic exchange of migrant student records is critical and ongoing.

Since the funding was eliminated for the MSRTS, groups of state education agencies have joined together to use various different systems or methods to make sure important information goes with the migrant students. Presumably the same data elements used in the MSRTS are still being used. Some of these systems have benefited from the use of the student handbook in choosing important data elements and definitions.

A new national migrant student system is slated to be developed during 2005-2006. With the support of the USED Office of Migrant Education, a revised set of data elements has been identified for maintenance of information about Migrant Students, both in state systems and in the new central record system. It is hoped that this new system will better serve the students' and schools' needs as well as providing more accurate summary data about the students.

Joint OCR/OSEP Pilot Data Collection

In the 1990's, the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) and the Office for Civil Rights (OCR) began collaboration on a project to reduce overlap in data collections and promote the quality of data. Working with five state education agencies on a pilot, OSEP and OCR obtained information from state special education data systems concerning special education programs at the local school district and school building level. The goal of this activity was to reduce the overall amount of information local education agencies must provide to OCR. However, the benefit of such an activity was that the data for OSEP and OCR were from the same data system. The end result was expected to be better data for OCR and the potential for using OSEP and OCR data together for analytical purposes.



ESP Insight

USED Program Managers have become increasingly aware of the need for better quality data, that is, data that are needed and used at the local levels and are not collected solely for reporting to the federal government.

Data Quality Training

In the fall of 1999, the Office of Planning and Evaluation Services conducted a series of data quality workshops for program managers in ED. ESP Solutions Group conducted the workshops using a guidebook developed with ED. The training guide provided standards for data quality illustrated by examples from real life. An important focus of these workshops was on preparing program managers to attest to the quality of the data used as performance indicators for the programs. Much of this training stressed the processes that could be used to help clients provide high quality data, including the standardization of data definitions and data collection procedures. The document Guidelines for Evaluating the Quality of Program Performance Data was provided as a resource for use by all program personnel.

Metadata Dictionary Efforts

NCES had conducted a prior study of the redundancy of data collections by ED offices, so in 1995, when ESP Solutions Group's founder, Glynn Ligon, proposed a more formal documentation, the states in the Mid-West Consortium agreed to participate. Using ESP's software named Periodicity™ and later upgraded to DataSpecs[™], this project documented each state's and ED's collections and data elements. This effort led into later activities including the Integrated Performance Benchmarking System (pilot), Performance-Based Data Management Initiative and the Education Data Exchange Network metadata dictionary standards.

Education Data Exchange Network (EDEN)

Throughout the 1990's, ED's Evaluation Review Panel commented on the disparate data collection methods and standards across ED's major evaluations. The overlap of data collection activities placed a burden on the schools, districts, and states to participate in studies that required extensive and sophisticated samples. Beginning in 1999, state education agencies joined with ED to conceptualize a truly integrated data system. Originally called the Integrated Performance and Benchmarking System (IPBS), ED sponsored a pilot activity looking at ways to harvest standard sets of data elements from state education agencies' data systems about federal programs. One of the major components of this effort was the identification of a set of data elements with standard definitions that would be used by many federal programs to help in evaluating the success of the programs. This activity promised to make data more useful and more readily available to the various programs and decision-makers, as well as reducing data reporting burden to the states.

In 2002, ED moved ahead on the promise of IPBS into the full development of the Education Data Exchange Network (EDEN) as a part of the Performance-Based Data Management Initiative. EDEN was designed to collect statistical data needed for accountability reporting on federally funded programs. From the beginning, the focus was on collecting standardized high quality data about state formula grant programs, based on ED Program Office information needs. Data elements were identified to meet the information needs using the NCES handbooks, current data collection documentation and review of data currently available in state education agencies.





As a part of this effort, each state was visited by a team of two people knowledgeable about state data systems in 2003 and 2004. The team documented the availability of state data and adherence to standard definitions needed to meet the EDEN reporting requirements. ESP Solutions Group managed the recruitment, training, and supervision of these teams and the documentation of each state's status.

The EDEN collection is expected to meet the reporting requirements for many of the ED programs; however, there are special data needs that are not statistical or are needed from only a sample of education organizations. For these needs, an electronic survey has been developed.

The EDEN collection represents a major turning point for USED. In partnership with state education agencies, this collection will mean better and more timely data for the Secretary of Education and others within the education community.

Information on EDEN is available online at www.ed.gov/EDEN.



Education Data Activities Supported by Other Organizations

CCSSO Data Related Activities

The Council of Chief State School Officers has conducted data standardization activities in addition to the work done through the NCES/CCSSO project. Each time they are surveyed, chief state school officers note that one of their greatest needs is a data system that can provide essential answers to questions about the success of schools in helping students to meet high standards, as well as other questions about school resources, teacher supply and demand, and the financing of public schools.

Following are descriptions of several activities undertaken by CCSSO to meet data needs identified by chief state school officers. These efforts tended to promote the collection of the same data by all, rather than specifying how the data should be collected (and defined). Information about these projects and copies of many of the documents are available online at www.ccsso.org.

Measuring Results: Overview of Performance Indicators

The State Education Improvement Partnership (consisting of CCSSO, Education Commission of the States, National Associate of State Boards of Education, National Conference of State Legislatures, and National Governors' Association) convened a task force to identify performance indicators that could be used to assess states' progress in meeting state goals. The final document, "Measuring Results: Overview of Performance Indicators," contains a list of suggested indicators that could be used to assess state progress. While they did not specify what data elements would be needed to create the indicators, there were fairly specific definitions of the indicators included.

Limited English Proficient Student Data Recommendations

Funded by a grant from the Andrew Mellon Foundation of New York, this project was a joint effort of CCSSO's State Education Assessment Center and the Resource Center on Educational Equity. Based on research about what was being done by states, a task force made recommendations about what data should be collected to assess the language proficiency of English language learners and to monitor their progress through the educational system. The final document from this project is titled, Recommendations for Improving the Assessment and Monitoring of Students with Limited English Proficiency.

State Education Indicators with a Focus on Title I

This publication was produced by the CCSSO State Education Assessment Center with funding from the Planning and Evaluation Service of the U.S. Department of Education. The report, State Education Indicators with a Focus on Title I, was an annual publication that contains state-by-state information on the characteristics and performance of schools and students in each state. While this activity does not work to develop standard definitions, it reported data in a standard format across states, something that is critical to understanding and interpreting data.



from the focused attention of those who have the greatest need for the data, such as state education agencies.



State Indicators of Science and Mathematics Education

This publication contains information about science and mathematics instruction in the states. Funded by the National Science Foundation, the project has worked with representatives of state education agencies to collect standard data about student achievement, content and instruction, teacher preparation and supply and conditions for teaching. Many of the states are now using the data elements in this model to evaluate the provision of instruction at the school and district levels in science and mathematics as well as in other subjects.

EIMAC

The Education Information Management Advisory Consortium of CCSSO provides a valuable service to the chief state school officers. This committee, made up of representatives of state education agencies, represents SEA chiefs and staff on national data issues, collaborates in the planning of national data initiatives, provides guidance on national data collections and assessments, and provides networking and professional development opportunities for SEA data and assessment staff. This group meets twice a year, and two task forces funded by ED meet an additional two times a year to advise on NAEP issues and PBDMI/EDEN.

Decision Support Architecture Consortium (DSAC)

The Decision Support Architecture Consortium (DSAC) was a collaborative effort to help states develop data systems that make information available and easily accessible for more effective decision making. Included are decisions that affect all state constituencies--student/parent, classroom, school, district, state and federal. Included in their work are topics related to curriculum management, education certification, formative assessments, internal logistic management, portals, and student IDs. DSAC activities were co-sponsored by CELT Corporation and CCSSO.

Schools Interoperability Framework

Beginning in 1999, a group under the leadership of the Software and Information Industry Association began developing a set of standards for software applications to use when sharing data. The Schools Interoperability Framework (SIF) is the name that has been given to the technical interoperability specifications for K-12 instructional and administrative software, now managed by the Schools Interoperability Framework Association (SIFA). SIFA is made up of representatives of K-12 software vendors and users from the education community. The goal of this activity is to reduce administrative burdens based on differences in the way information is stored, accessed, updated and transferred. The NCES handbooks are being used to help with the selection of data elements and definitions.

An important activity underway in SIFA is the development of specifications for vertical reporting. Two types of vertical reporting are of interest: individual student or staff records and aggregate information that move from district to state education agencies. As mentioned above, SIFA is developing a format for exchanging transcript data. SIFA is also working closely with ED to facilitate the exchange of data in EDEN.





Most educators will not be aware of the implementation of these standards, as they are embedded in the software. However, it is important for educators to insist that the software they purchase be compliant with these standards so that the various applications can interact and share data efficiently and securely.

Information on SIF is available online at www.sifinfo.org.

IMS Global Learning Consortium

The IMS Global Learning Consortium is a non-profit organization whose mission is to support the adoption and use of learning technology worldwide. IMS members come from every sector of the global e-learning community, including hardware and software vendors, educational institutions, publishers, government agencies, systems integrators, multimedia content providers, and other consortia. IMS develops and promotes the adoption of open technical specifications for interoperable learning technology. Several IMS specifications have become worldwide de facto standards for delivering learning products and services. Among the areas where standards have been developed is for assessment. Information about IMS Global is available online at http://www.imsproject.org/.

Summary

The need for high quality education data has increased significantly in the past 20 years. Where previously states preferred to avoid state-by-state comparisons and stress the uniqueness of each state's educational program, now states and others in the nation see the value of monitoring educational progress by looking at states where there are programs succeeding with students of all types. Education data systems are now seen as critical elements for effective decision making, not just for distribution of funds, but also for identifying where improvement is needed.

Many of the data standardization activities that have occurred since the mid-1980's have been consensus building activities, where representatives of federal, state, and local education agencies have come together with researchers and others to agree upon "best practice" in collecting and maintaining data about the education system. This methodology has been time consuming and expensive, but there have been payoffs in the adoption of standard data definitions and more consistent data collection. With the availability of more sophisticated computer technology and the increasing need to use data for decision-making, this appears to be a propitious time for moving data standardization efforts ahead.

ESP Insight While much as been done to develop more consistent ways of collecting and reporting data, there remains the challenge to best use the data to affect student learning.

About the Author

From 1987-1997 Dr. Barbara Clements directed all of the NCES/CCSSO data improvement projects. Some of the major data improvement projects in which she was involved included; the NCES handbook revisions (pg. 8), the SPEEDE/ExPRESS project (pg.10), dropout and graduation rate deliberations (pg. 12), and the overlap in Federal collections (pg.13).

Dr. Clements had a major role in the development of the operating procedures for the National Forum on Education Statistics (pg. 13), and represented CCSSO in the Forum. She staffed and authored the "Basic Data Elements" (pg. 15), participated in the development of and authored the final draft of "Technology @ Your Fingertips" (pg. 16), authored "Building an Automated Student Records System" (pg.17), and oversaw the development of the original "Protecting the Privacy of Student Records" (pg. 17).

Drs. Glynn Ligon and Barbara Clements worked on several projects together including; the task force that developed "Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting" (SEDCAR, pg. 18), data quality training through the ED Office of Planning and Evaluation Services (pg. 21), the metadata dictionary efforts (pg.21), and the Performance Based Data Management Initiative (PBDMI), now called the Education Data Exchange Network (EDEN, pg. 22). Dr. Clements' role in EDEN was crucial as she identified the original set of data elements for EDEN.

In addition, Dr. Clements worked on the CCSSO activities of Meauring Results, directed and co-wrote the Limited English Proficiency recommendations (pg. 23), and was involved in the Title I Indicators (pg 23).



Bibliography

Council of Chief State School Officers. (1992). Recommendations for Improving the Assessment and Monitoring of Students with Limited English Proficiency. Washington, DC: Author.

National Education Goals Panel, April 1993. Goal 2 Technical Planning Subgroup on Core Data Elements: Report to the National Education Goals Panel. Washington, DC: Author.

National Education Statistics Agenda Committee of the National Forum on Education Statistics, October 1990. A Guide to Improving the National Education Data System. Washington, DC: National Forum on Education Statistics.

National Forum on Education Statistics, July 2000. Basic Data Elements for Elementary and Secondary Education Facilities Data Systems, Working Draft.

Pallas, Aaron M., March 1992. Statewide Student Record Systems: Current Status and Future Trends. Washington, DC: National Education Goals Panel.

State Education Improvement Partnership. (November 1996). Measuring Results: Overview of Performance Indicators. Washington, DC: Council of Chief State School Officers.

- U.S. Department of Education (1999). Guidelines for Evaluating the Quality of Program Performance Data. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (2000) Student Data Handbook: Elementary, Secondary and Early Childhood Education, NCES 2000343. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (2000) Privacy Issues in Staff Records, NCES 2000363. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1998). Safeguarding Your Technology: Practical Guidelines for Electronic Education Information Security, NCES Report 98-2937. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1998). Handbook on Human Resources: Recordkeeping and Analysis. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1997). Technology @ Your Fingertips. A Guide to Implementing Technology Solutions for Education Agencies and Institutions, NCES Report 98-293.. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1997) Basic Data Elements: For Elementary and Secondary Education Information Systems, NCES 97-531, by the National Forum on Education Statistics. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1997) Protecting the Privacy of Student Records: Guidelines for Education Agencies, NCES 97-527, by Oona Cheung, Barbara Clements, and Ellen Pechman. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.



- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1996) Recommendations of the Crime, Violence, and Discipline Reporting Task Force, NCES 97-581, prepared for the National Education Statistics Agenda Committee. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1995) *A Pilot Standard National Course Classification System for Secondary Education*, NCES 95-480. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1995) *Staff Data Handbook: Elementary, Secondary and Early Childhood Education*, NCES 95-327. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1992). *Postsecondary Education Facilities Inventory and Classification Manual,* NCES 92-165. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1991) *SEDCAR:* Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (1990) *Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems 1990*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. SPEEDE/ExPRESS: Standards for Postsecondary Education Electronic Data Exchanges/Exchange of Permanent Records Electronically for Students and Schools. Format for the Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) transaction set for a student record (transcript) and related transaction sets.



Appendix A

Council of Chief State School Officers Papers and Reports Submitted Under contract to the National Center for Education Statistics 1986-1992

The Technical Report: Conceptual Framework (December 1986) 33 pages. This report presents a description of the Education Data Improvement Project and the conceptual framework that guided its implementation.

School and School District Data

A Compendium: State Profiles of School and School District Universe Data (September 1986) 619 pages. This report describes development of individual state profiles on definitions used for 17 terms, on specifications developed for 17 data elements, and on collection practices for those data elements.

Summary: State Data Collection Practices on Universe Data Files (September 1986) 19 pages. This report compares school and school district data collection by and across states, and by specific data elements.

School and Student Classifications for Universe Data Files (September 1986) 45 pages. This report examines how states defined terms related to schools and students, assesses the comparability of definitions across states, and proposes updated definitions to resolve the differences.

Collecting National Statistics on Dropouts (September 1986) 38 pages. The purpose of this report is to present, in detail, a model which overcomes problems creating meaningful and comparable dropout and school leaver statistics. State dropout data collection practices in 1985-86 are described.

Federal Program Information on School and School District Universe Files (September 1986) 39 pages. This report identifies and discusses specific issues to be resolved, prior to including federal programs (such as Chapter 1, Bilingual Education, Migrant Education, and Food and Nutrition Services) on school and school district universe files. It also provides a summary of data availability by states and a review of state-level definitions of federal program terms. Finally, it presents specific recommendations for standardizing definitions for the programs, and for including specific data elements in the universe files.

Variations in Definitions and Procedures for Student Counts: Enrollment, Fall Enrollment, Membership and Average Daily Attendance (December 1986) 34 pages.

The purposes of this report are (1) to describe types of data generally available from states on student counts. (2) to discuss specific findings on terms, definitions, and procedures used by individual states and nationally for student counts, and (3) to recommend ways in which specific student counts can be made comparable across states.

<u>Summary: Recommendations for Improving the National Education Statistical Database</u> (September 1986) 14 pages. This report summarizes the major recommendations made to the National Center for Education Statistics and states for improving the national statistical database for elementary and secondary education. Information in this report is extracted from previously listed reports. Included are general recommendations for improving the Center's Common Core of Data, recommendations specific to the universe file,



recommendations for redefining several terms critical for establishing comparable data, and a list of data elements recommended by the Project for the school universe file.

Fiscal Data

A Comparison of Handbooks 2R and 2R2: Implications for Data Comparability (March 1987) 41 pages. This report details the differences in the ledgers and definitions of the constituent elements in two federal school accounting handbooks, which might account for differences in states' reporting of fiscal data.

<u>Recommendations for Improving the National Education Fiscal Database</u> (November 1987) 34 pages. This report presents the recommendations for improving the fiscal data portion of the Common Core of Data.

<u>Summary: State Collection of Fiscal Data Elements</u> (May 1988) 53 pages. This report compares how states collect information on revenues and expenditures from local education agencies (LEA's). Information is included on funds, revenues, and expenditures by programs.

Recommendations for Revising the Current Federal Education Financial Accounting Handbook (August 1988) 16 pages. Included in this paper is a description of the efforts made by the project to arrive at specific recommendations for improving the contents of the handbook. Also included are a discussion of problems with the handbook which have been identified by the project and a specific recommendation concerning the process and timelines for revising the handbook.

<u>Recommendations for Improving the Reporting of Education Expenditures and Attendance</u> (August 1988) 34 pages. This report discusses problems with current definitions of the terms Current Expenditures, Average Daily Attendance, and Per Pupil Expenditures and describes recommendations for reporting more comparable information.

Staffing Data

<u>Results of the Shuttle to Verify Staffing Data Elements</u> (August 1988) 154 pages. This report presents the results of analyses of states' present collection of staffing data, including states' agreement with National Center for Education Statistics' definitions and the extent to which states collect information on the various staffing categories.

<u>State-by-State Profiles of Staffing Data Collected by State Education Agencies</u> (August 1988). This report contains states' definitions for staffing categories and data elements (e.g., demographic characteristics, certification data, and salary data.

Recommendations for Improving the Federal Collection of Education Staffing Data (August 1988) 50 pages. This report presents the recommendations for improving the staffing portion of the Common Core of Data. The recommendations include the selection of key staffing categories on which to collect state-aggregate information, the types of information needed on each staffing category, and definitions for each staffing category and data element.

<u>State Collection of Staffing Data Elements</u> (October 1988) 43 pages. This report contains a listing of which data elements are currently collected by states for the different staffing categories.



Other Project Reports

The EDIP Model Data Collection System (March 1989) 14 pages. This report describes a model for automating the collection of data from school districts by state education agencies.

Summary of the Types of Schools States Report in the Common Core of Data (March 1990) 11 pages. This report summarizes what the project found concerning the types of schools included by states in the Common Core of Data.

Summary of Staffing Data Collected in Federal and National Surveys (July 1990) 39 pages. This report summarizes the types of data collected about public school staff by NCES, Census, Department of Labor, and other organizations.

Recommendations for Redesigning the CCD Survey of Staff (July 1990) 33 pages. This report summarizes the recommendations made by the Task Force on the Implementation of the Redesign of the CCD Nonfiscal Survey of Staff. Included is a discussion of issues related to staff data raised by task force members.

A Study of Availability and Overlap of Education Data in Federal Collections (September 1991) 33 pages. This report describes various federal data collections that collect data on student participation, progress and membership. An attempt was made to discover the extent to which there was overlap in the data collected in the various collections and differences in definitions used that could cause reporting burden to state education agencies.

The Directory of Data Management and Related Technology Personnel in State Education Agencies (September 1992) 194 pages. This directory contains information about the technology used by state education agencies (SEA's) to maintain education data. In addition, there is contact information about the SEA personnel having responsibility for the contents and maintenance of data.



Appendix B

NCES Handbooks and Related Documents

Student Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education: 2000 Edition. [NCES #2000-343] The Student Data Handbook was developed to provide guidance concerning the consistent maintenance of student information. This handbook defines data elements and definitions describing personal information, enrollment, school participation and activities, out of school experience, assessment, transportation, health, special program participation and discipline for pupils in early childhood, elementary, and secondary education. This handbook contains no data. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/pubs2000/studenthb.

Staff Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education: 2001 Edition. [NCES #2001-305] The Staff Data Handbook was developed to provide guidance concerning the consistent maintenance of staff information. This handbook defines data elements and definitions describing personal information, educational experiences, qualification information, current employment, assignments, and evaluation and career development for personnel in early childhood, elementary, and secondary education. This handbook contains no data. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2001305.

Handbooks Online – Version 2. [NCES #2005-345] Handbooks Online - Version 2 is a searchable web tool that provides access to the NCES Data Handbooks for elementary, secondary, and early childhood education. These Handbooks offer guidance on consistency in data definitions and in maintaining data so that they can be accurately aggregated and analyzed. The updated database includes data elements for students, staff, and education institutions; added data elements for food service, technology and discipline; and a link to the current NCES Accounting Handbook. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2005345.

SPEEDE/ExPRESS (SPEEDE stands for Standardization of Postsecondary Education Electronic Data Exchange, and ExPRESS stands for Exchange of Permanent Records Electronically for Students and Schools.) is an ANSI X12 (Electronic Data Interchange) format. For information on SPEEDE/ExPRESS look under Standards on the website of the Postsecondary Standards Council at: http://www.standardscouncil.org

Basic Data Elements for Elementary and Secondary Education Information Systems. [NCES #97-531] This document contains a set of basic student and staff data elements recommended by the Core Data Task Force of the National Forum on Education Statistics. The purpose of these basic data elements is to provide a common language to promote the collection and reporting of comparable education data to guide policy and assist in the administration of state and local education systems. The report also contains a recommended process for identifying and periodically updating the set of data elements to be maintained by a school, school district, state education agency, or other education unit with a need for student and staff information. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/pubs97/97531.pdf

Safety in Numbers: Collecting and Using Crime, Violence, and Discipline Incident Data to Make a Difference in Schools. [NCES #2002-312] This document is designed for use by school, district, and state staff to improve the effectiveness of their efforts to collect and use disciplinary incident data. It provides recommendations on what types of data to collect, why it is critical to collect such data, and how the data can be used to improve school safety and answer policy questions relating to school improvement and the safety of students. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub 2002312.asp.



Facilities Information Management: A Guide for State and Local Education Agencies **[NCES 2003-400]** This *Guide* provides a framework for identifying a basic set of school facilities data elements and definitions that will meet the information needs of school and community decision makers, school facility managers, and the general public. It presents recommendations for designing and maintaining an information system about the condition, design, use, management, and financing of elementary/secondary education facilities. It also includes commonly used measures, data elements, and a list of additional resources for the practitioner. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub_2003400.asp.

Planning Guide for Maintaining School Facilities. [NCES #2003-347] This Guide was prepared by members of the National Forum on Education Statistics to help school facilities managers plan for efficient and effective operations. It provides practical advice on a range of topics, including how to do a facilities audit to know what you have, planning for maintenance that will ensure smooth operations and avoid costly surprises, managing staff and contractors, and evaluating maintenance efforts. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub 2003347.asp.

NCES Technology @ Your Fingertips: A Guide to Implementing Technology Solutions for Education Agencies and Institutions. [NCES #98-293] These guidelines describe a process for getting the best possible technology solution for your organization. It also describes the steps necessary to identify technology needs, acquire the technology, and implement a technology solution that provides a foundation for an organization's future technology well being. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum?pub_98293.asp.

Safeguarding Your Technology: Practical Guidelines for Electronic Education **Information Security.** [NCES #98-297] These guidelines are written to help education administrators and staff at the buildings, campus, district, and state levels better understand why and how to effectively secure their organization's sensitive information, critical systems, computer equipment, and network access. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum/pub 98297.asp.

Weaving a Secure Web Around Education: A Guide to Technology Standards and Security. [NCES #2003-381] This Guide was written to provide guidance to local and state education agencies about the development, maintenance, and standardization of effective websites. The Guide offers a detailed examination of the steps that can be taken to secure an education organization's Internet node (connection point) and the network that sends information from computer to computer within the organization. It describes appropriate publishing standards and content for websites at various levels of the education environment. It also addresses usability guidelines as they relate to federal and state regulations for accessibility, privacy rights, and copyright regulations. Appendices include a description of a local area network, sample policies that could be used by districts or state departments of education, access options for education organizations, and a glossary of relevant terms and definitions. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub_2003381.asp.

Technology in Schools: Suggestions, Tools and Guidelines for Assessing Technology in Elementary and Secondary Education. [NCES #2003-313] This document was developed to help inform decisions concerning the various types of technology data that can be collected, reported, and used. It offers guidance for determining which issues are truly "key" to understanding technology needs and capabilities in an education organization. The document is structured around seven primary topics, each of which constitutes a chapter: technology planning and policies; finance; equipment and infrastructure; technology applications (software and systems); maintenance and support; professional development and training; and technology integration. The document also includes an extensive glossary of education technology terms and definitions. Available online at http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub 2003313.asp.



Forum Unified Technology Suite. [NCES #2005-342] The Forum Unified Education Technology Suite presents a practical, comprehensive, and tested approach to assessing, acquiring, instituting, managing, securing, and using technology in education settings. It will also help individuals who lack extensive experience with technology to develop a better understanding of the terminology, concepts, and fundamental issues influencing technology acquisition and implementation decisions. This online resource combines and updates four previously existing NCES/Forum publications: Sateguarding Your Technology (1998), Technology @ Your Fingertips (2001), Technology in Schools (2002), and Weaving a Secure Web around Education (2003). Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub_tech_suite.asp.

NCES Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems: 2003 Edition. [NCES #2004-318] This NCES Handbook is designed to be the national standard for state departments of education when reporting financial data and for school districts when preparing comprehensive annual financial reports (CAFRs). The 2003 Edition contains guidance reflecting the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements (through Statement 39). There are chapters on budgeting, governmental accounting, and financial reporting. Moreover, account codes have been updated to reflect changes in the new reporting requirements and developments in technology and security. There is also a chapter on student activity fund accounting and a model for school level program cost accounting. Use of Financial Accounting for State and Local School Systems, 2003 Edition will help to ensure that education fiscal data is reported across the nation in a comprehensive manner. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub 2004318.asp.

Building an Automated Student Record System. [NCES 2000-324] Based on a chapter in the *Student Data Handbook for Elementary, Secondary, and Early Childhood Education*, this document provides a stand alone guide for local and state education agencies faced with the task of designing or upgrading an existing automated student information system. In addition to the chapter information, this document contains checklists and real life examples, as well as references to other resources that could be useful. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum/pub 2000324.asp.

Forum Guide to Protecting the Privacy of Student Records: State and Local Education Agencies. [NCES #04-527] These guidelines were developed to help state and local education agencies and schools to develop adequate policies and procedures to protect information about students and their families from improper release, while still satisfying the need for school officials to make sound management, instructional, and service decisions. Suggested audiences include state education agency staff, state and local policy-makers, school district staff, school administrators and staff, program and support services staff, technical staff, and teachers and other school-based support professionals. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum/pub 2004330.asp.

Privacy Issues in Staff Records. [NCES #2000-363] This report discusses key concepts in protecting and managing information in staff records. It does not provide legal guidelines, but does address the federal Freedom of Information and Privacy Acts and offers principles of best practice. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/forum/pub 2000363.asp.

Forum Guide to Building a Culture of Quality Data: A School and District Resource. [NCES 2005801] There has been a growing awareness that effective teaching, efficient schools, and quality data are linked. A "Culture of Quality Data" is the belief that good data are an integral part of teaching, learning and managing the school enterprise. This guide was developed by the Forum's Data Quality Task Force to help schools and school districts improve the quality of data they collect and to provide processes for developing a "Culture of Quality Data" by focusing on data entry—getting things right at the source. The quality of data will improve when all staff understand how the data will be used and how data become



information. This guide will show how quality data can be achieved in a school or district through the collaborative efforts of all staff. Available online at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum/pub 2005801.asp.

A Pilot Standard National Course Classification System for Secondary Education. [NCES #95-480] This document was developed to promote the use of a standard vocabulary and to encourage the maintenance of accurate and complete data about students. It is intended to serve as a reference document to public and private school agencies and researchers interested in course information at the secondary level. This publication contains no data. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=95480.

Handbook on Human Resources. [NCES #98-302] This handbook is intended as a basic quide that can assist postsecondary institutions in developing an analytically useful database on their faculty and staff. It reflects the perspectives and judgment of a broad-based group of professionals with expertise in postsecondary institutional analysis and a deep understanding of the issues concerning postsecondary education faculty and staff. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=98302.

Postsecondary Education Facilities Inventory and Classification Manual. [NCES #92-**165]** This document contains a major update of types of postsecondary institutions' physical facilities and re-established current and and consistent definition and classification codes to collect, report, and exchange comparable data on institutional facilities. Available online at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubs92/92165.pdf

Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting. [NCES #92-022] Guidelines are available that describe "best practice" in collecting and reporting education data including student information. Called the Standards for Education Data Collection and Reporting (SEDCAR), these guidelines were developed pursuant to the Hawkins-Stafford Amendments of 1988, which authorized an effort to improve the comparability, quality, and usefulness of education data. SEDCAR is a helpful guide to basic principles for ensuring good quality in the key phases of data collection, storage, and reporting. Anyone developing, redesigning, or taking charge of a student record system can benefit from the collective experience of the large team of professionals brought together to develop SEDCAR. To order SEDCAR, please visit the NCES web site at: http://www.nces.ed.gov/Forum/pub 92022.asp.



About ESP Solutions Group

ESP Solutions Group provides its clients with *Extraordinary Insight*™ into K-12 education data systems and psychometrics. Our team is comprised of industry experts who pioneered the concept of "data driven decision making" in the 1970's and now help optimize the management of our clients' state and local education agencies.

ESP personnel have advised all 52 state education agencies as well as the U.S. Department of Education on the practice of K-12 school data management. We are regarded as leading experts in understanding the data and technology implications of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), Performance Based Data Management Initiative (PBDMI and EDEN), and the Schools Interoperability Framework (SIF).

Dozens of state education agencies have hired ESP to design and build their statewide student record collection systems, federal reporting systems, student identifier systems, data dictionaries, evaluation/assessment programs and data management/analysis systems. To learn how ESP can give your agency *Extraordinary Insight*TM into your K-12 education data, contact Mark Johnson, Chief Operating Officer at toll free (888) 828-6480 x107 or mjohnson@espsg.com.

This document is part of *The Optimal Reference Guide* Series, designed to help education data decision makers analyze, manage, and share data in the 21st Century.

The Optimal Reference Guide, National Education Data Standardization Efforts, Copyright © 2005 by ESP Solutions Group. All rights reserved. No part of this paper shall be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without written permission from the publisher.



(512) 458-8364 www.espsolutionsgroup.com Austin • Boston • Washington DC